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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

ROBERTDALL,

Aaintiff, MEMORANDUM & ORDER
11-CV-0444MKB)

V.
ST. CATHERINE OF SIENA MEDICAL CENTER,

Defendant.

MARGO K. BRODIE, United Sites District Judge:

Plaintiff Robert Dall bringshe above-captioned action agstiDefendant St. Catherine
of Siena Medical Center (“Medical Center”)sagting claims of gendeliscrimination, hostile
work environment, and retaliation under &it1l of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.
8 2000eet seq(“Title VII"), and the New York Sta Human Rights Law, N.Y. Exec. Law § 290
et seq (“NYSHRL"). Defendant moved for summajydgment on all claims. For the reasons
set forth below, the Court denies Defendanttgtion for summary judgment as to Plaintiff's
gender discrimination claim, and grants Defant’s motion for summary judgment as to
Plaintiff's hostile work envionment and retaliation claims.

I. Background

On January 8, 2001, Plaintiff was hired as adiem special proceduréschnician in the
radiology department by Defendant, a not-for-piodspital located in Smithtown, New York.
(Def. 56.1 1 1; PI.56.1 1 1.) On April 28, 2002, he was promoted to a full-time special
procedures technician, and on May 16, 2005, Plaisijdb title was changed to MRI technician.
(Def. 56.1 11 20, 22; PI. 56.1 11 20, 22.) Plaintifs\aanember of the Union which represented
the Medical Center’s health care professiores] was elected Presideayi the Union in 2004.

(Def. 56.1 19 28-29, PI. 56.1 11 28-29.)
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In or about March 2007, Beatrice Birminghangae working as a nurse in the radiology
department. (Def. 56.1  65; PI. 56.1  65.1.rdkding to Plaintiff, Birmingham regularly
acted in a sexually explicit manner while atriwo(Pl. 56.1 1 65.3.) Birmingham told sexually
explicit stories, visited explicit websites on waxtkamputers, showed employees a drawing of her
vagina, described her boyfriend’s genitalia, brought a chogodatis to work, openly discussed
her personal sex toys, and reguladid co-workers her “lips wemmade for blow jobs.” (PlI.

Dep. 108:5-112:24, 195:13-196:24, 222:1-W3intiff found Birminglam’s behavior to be
“offensive” and “downright disgusting,” and thehavior made him uncomfortable. (PI. Dep.
221:16-222:15.) Plaintiff and others in the deparit told Birmingham that she was disclosing
“too much information,” or that “we don’t need to go therdd. @t 110:1-7, 121:16-21.) Both
Plaintiff and Andrea Scott, a nurse emplogedhe Medical Center, witnessed Birmingham
bring in a photograph of her ex-husband’s gdiaitand show it to cowders in the radiology
department. I¢l. at 111:12-19; Scott Decl. § 5.) Accmglto Susan Horn, a nurse employed at
the Medical Center, Bonnie Wilson, a nursarierly employed at the Medical Center, and
Karalyn Krieger, a computed tomography tedbgest (“CT tech”) currently employed by the
Medical Center, Birmingham routiy acted in a manner inappropedor the workplace. (Horn
Dep. 10:3-14; Wilson Decl. 1 5; iger Decl. § 4.) Birminghamvore tight clothing and sat on
the laps of male coworkers. (Horn D&R:7-13:15.) According to Horn, Birmingham’s
behavior, including frequenbaversations of a sexual natungade the work environment
uncomfortable. (Horn Dep. 10:11-12:6.)

On December 12, 2009, the employees of thelagy department were invited to attend
an annual holiday party at Mediterraneanmidiaon Long Island. (Def. 56.1 1 55-60; PI. 56.1

19 55-60.) When Plaintiff arriveat the party, Birmingham told Plaintiff that she was “going



commando,” or not wearing underwear, under hesslr (Pl. Dep. 125:4-25.) Birmingham and
Anne Marie Hawkins, anotherdmlogy nurse, were “visible inkicated,” at tle party. (Scott
Decl. 1 6; PI. Dep. 125:2-3.) During the event, Birmingham and Hawkins waited for all the male
individuals to gather arounditi their telephones and cameeasl started kissing. (Pl. Dep.
126:1-19.) While Birmingham wamsing for a photograph, Plaifitused his cellular telephone
to take a photograph of her when her leg waseda (Pl. Dep. 126:1-19; Hawkins Aff. 11 5, 6.)
According to Plaintiff, the photograph wasBifmingham’s knee and lower thigh, (PIl. Dep.
126:19, 129:13-14), and, according to Wilson,gheto did not show anything explicit or
inappropriate (Wilson Decl. § 6). According towlans, Plaintiff told her that he took the
photograph underneath Birmingham'’s dress anditikas a photograph of her “ass.” (Hawkins
Aff. 11 6, 8.) Danielle Robhs, Defendant’s human resourcepresentative, testified that
Hawkins and Birmingham acted inappropriatetythe party, kissing and dancing with each
other. (Robbins Dep. 40:10-41:17.)

When Plaintiff showed Birmingham the photagh at the party, Birmingham did not ask
him to delete it. (Pl. Dep. 127:7-9.) In the/sl&ollowing the party, Defendant maintains that
Plaintiff proceeded to show the photograph teeoemployees at the Medical Center. (Def.
Mem. 5; Robbins Aff. § 10.) écording to Plaintiff, Hawkins@proached Plaintiff and asked to
see his telephone. (Pl. Dep. 130:18-131:10ankif handed Hawkins his telephone, and he
observed her showing the photograph to ioémeployees. (Pl. 56.1 1 75; PI. Dep. 130:18—
133:24.).

In early January 2010, Plaintiff and Birmingh&iad a verbal confrontation relating to a
patient. (Pl. Dep. 134:17-135:25; Krieger Decl.f According to Plaintiff, Birmingham

disappeared while at work and refused tosasspatient, and Plaifftcomplained to his



supervisor, Dave Cook. (PIl. Dep. 134:18-2090ok complained to Gayle Romano,
Birmingham’s supervisor.Id. at 134:18-20.) Birmingham approached Plaintiff about his
complaint, and Plaintiff told her &t if “she put half the effoihto doing her work as she did to
this, she’d be a halfway decent nursdd. &t 134:23-135:7.) Followg the confrontation,
Birmingham was upset. (6.1 11 76.6—76.8; Krieger Decl. § 7.)

On January 10, 2010, within a day or twdlté confrontation between Plaintiff and
Birmingham, and a month after the holiday party, Birmingham filed a complaint of sexual
harassment with her supervisor, Romano,rajd?laintiff for t&ing the photograph and
allegedly circulating it at the Medical CentdiDef. 56.1  77; PI. 56.1  77; Krieger Decl.

11 7-8.) In Birmingham’s complaint, she stateat she first heardoaut Plaintiff's photograph
during the week after the holidgarty. (Beldner Decl. Ex. G Birmingham Compl.”).) During
her deposition, however, Birmingham stated #iet filed her complaint the morning after she
was informed by Hawkins that Plaintiff was shog/the photograph to le¢rs at the Medical
Center. (Birmingham Dep. 43:3-47:21.)

The day after Birmingham filed her complaiRtaintiff approached hién the hallway at
the Medical Center, asked her why she filed hemgdaint, and stated that the Medical Center
was going to try to fire him. (PIl. Dep. 147:1-2#Mintiff told her thahe was not showing the
photograph around — he “wouldrdo such a thing.” Id. at 147:22-148:1.) Birmingham told
him that she needed to speak to Romano and that she would get back to Plaingff. (
148:2—-4.) Birmingham did not follow upith Plaintiff, so later thagévening, Plaintiff sent a text
message to Birmingham stating “Hawuld you do that to somebody?Id.(at 148:11-16.)
After Birmingham did not respond, Plaintiff spolceher boyfriend Stevey CT tech at the

Medical Center, and asked him what was going ¢oh.af 148:15-22.) Steve told Plaintiff that



Birmingham was not allowed to speak to Plainaffid that she “better hand could not rescind
her complaint.” Id. at 148:21-25.) According to ScdBiymingham did attempt to rescind her
complaint against Plaintiff, but Romano, Birmingfia supervisor, would not allow her to do so.
(Scott Decl. 1 8.) According to Wilson, Birminghaial not want to file the complaint against
Plaintiff in the first place, but the Medical @er management pressured her into doing so.
(Wilson Decl. 1 11.)

Robbins conducted an investigation assulteof Birmingham’s complaint. (Def. 56.1
1 113; PI. 56.1 1 113.) According to Robbing siterviewed three individuals identified by
Birmingham as having witnessed Plaintififppropriate conduct, and each employee
confirmed Birmingham'’s allegations. (Robbiaf. 11 14—20; Hawkins Aff. § 10.) Robbins
interviewed Hawkins, who informed Robbins tkae wanted “to remain confidential because
she feared that Plaintiff would retaliate agaimsr.” (Robbins Aff.  15.) Hawkins informed
Robbins that Plaintiff had shown her the glgyaph of Birmingham on his telephone and told
her he took the photograph underneath Bigham’s dress at the holiday partyd. ( 16.)
Hawkins also told Robbins that she wised Plaintiff showing the photograph to other
employees at the workplacdd.) Robbins also spoke witbharles Maury and Bonnie Wilson,
two other employees in the radiology departmeld. §{17.) Maury told Robbins that he had
observed Plaintiff show the photagh to Birmingham at the holiday party and that Birmingham
requested that Plaintiff delete the photograpt. [ 18.) Plaintiff later showed Maury the
photograph and stated that it waghetograph of Birmingham’s “ass.ld¢  18.) Birmingham
confided in Maury that she was “distraught over iticident and felt that her personal space had

been violated.” Il. at 1 19.) Wilson told Robbins thRakaintiff had shown her a photograph in



the workplace that “looked like ‘flesh’ and aded her that the photograph was a picture he had
taken at the Holiday Party of Ms. Birmingham'’s thighld. @t § 20.)

On January 12, 2010, two days after Birminghfded her sexual harassment complaint
against Plaintiff, Robbins met with Plaintttf discuss Birmingham’s complaint. (Def. 56.1
19 119-24; PI. 56.1 1 119-24.) Plaintiff admitted hieahad used his cellular telephone to take
a photograph of Birmingham at the holiday partDef. 56.1 1 122; PI. 56.1 { 122; Robbins Aff.
1 21.) According to Robbins, Plaintiff adted that he took the photograph under Birmingham’s
dress and had shown the photograph and perntiteedhotograph to be shown to co-workers
within the radiology departmen{Robbins Aff. § 21.) Plaintiff tdl Robbins repeatedly that “he
did not believe that he had done anything wroitgeein taking the pictre or circulating the
picture throughout the [r]ladiology [d]epartmentld.] Robbins told Plaintiff that she would
continue to investigate tlmmplaint and that he should “refrain from contacting Ms.
Birmingham regarding her complaint.1d({ 23.) Plaintiff maintains that he offered to show
Robbins the photograph in orderdemonstrate that there wasiat) inappropriat@bout it but
Robbins declined to view the photograph. (Pl. D&@.) Plaintiff derés being told not to
contact Birmingham. I4. 1 4.) Plaintiff asked Robbins wihetr the situation would be resolved
if Birmingham rescinded her complaint, and Robbins informed him that, if Birmingham
rescinded her complaint, there wouldrmhing for Robbins to investigateld))

According to Wilson, she was asked by DomiRernice, the Direot of Radiology, and
Gayle Romano, Director of Critical Care anddidogy Nursing, to submit a written statement
against Plaintiff. (Wilson Decl. { 8.) Albugh she initially told tam that she was not
comfortable because she did not want to belwaeband she did not believe that Plaintiff had

done anything wrong, she eventually agregerafumerous requests by Pernice and Romano.



(Wilson Decl. at 11 8-9.) Wilson maintains tha¢ sfas pressured into submitting the statement.
(Id. at 1 10.)

On January 13, 2010, two days after Birminghfded her sexual harassment complaint
against Plaintiff, Plaintiff filel a sexual harassment complaint with Robbins against Birmingham,
setting forth Birmingham’s sexuallpappropriate behavior ithhe workplace. (Def. 56.1 {1 126—
129.) Plaintiff maintains that Head not previouslyiled a complaint because he was afraid of
retaliation and did not want tause any problems, but by filing a complaint against him,
Birmingham “made it fair to go out and cotam.” (Pl. Dep. 142:20-143:6.) Plaintiff
approached three co-workers — RJ Klein, Redrrant, and Karolyn Krieger — and asked them
to submit statements confirming the allegations in his complaint. (Def. 56.1 { 140; PI. 56.1
1 140.) Garrant and Krieger testified that tixere not pressured ooerced into signing the
statement they submitted in support of Riffie complaint. (Garrant Dep. 16:9-18, 22:17-22;
Krieger Decl. 1 5.) Klein told Robbins that Wwas pressured by Plaintiff to submit a statement
in support of Plaintiff's complaint. (Deb6.1 § 153; PI. 56.1 § 153.1.) Klein, Garrant and
Krieger confirmed that Birmingham routinely aciach sexually inappropriate manner. (PI. 56.1
19 150-66.) Robbins testifiddat she thought both Birmingham and Plaintiff acted
inappropriately, but that Bningham acted more inappropriately. (Robbins Dep. 70:2-25.)

During the course of Robbins’s investigpn, she conversemith Lynda Larson,

Plaintiff's Union Advisor. (Pl. Dep. 166:19-167:3; Robbins Dep. 84:22—-85:9.) According to
Larson, Robbins told her that tMedical Center had a “zero toéce policy” with respect to
sexual harassment and was theef&eeking to terminate Plaiffit employment. (Larson Decl.
1 5.) Based on those conversations, Latsaterstood that Defendant was “unequivocally

seeking the termination” of Plaintiff. (Lams Decl. { 6.) Larson therefore communicated to



Plaintiff that he would be terminated if ded not resign. (PDep. 224:24-225:6.) Plaintiff
claims that Robbins communicatdulectly to him that he woulte terminated if he did not
resign. (Pl. Dep. 224:18-225:2.) Acdimg to Plaintiff, Robbingnade it clear that suspension
was not an option and told him that she wasriggiressured by a committee” to terminate him.
(Pl. Dep. 152:2-6.) Robbins maintains that sldendit request Plaintiff resignation or advise
Plaintiff that he would be terminatedhé did not resign. (Robbins Aff.  38.)

On January 15, 2010, Plaintiff met witlobbins to discuss the results of the
investigation. (Def. 56. 1 187; Pep. 152:1-154:9.) According to Bloins, at the time of this
meeting, the Medical Center had not yet detidat disciplinary action would be imposed
against Plaintiff. (Robbins Aff. 1 37pn January 15, 2010, Plaintiff resigned. (Def. 56.1
1 194; PI. 56.1 1 194.) Plaintiff testified that he resigned after gatimg in a letter which
stated he was leaving duethe hostile work environment caused by Birmingham. (PIl. Dep.
154:7-9.)

Robbins testified that, following her investigm, a determination was made to suspend
Birmingham, and she believed Birmingham was suspehd&hbbins Dep. 98:19-99:7.)
Following the investigation, all employees in thaeiology department were required to attend
mandatory sexual harassment tragni (Def. 56.1 { 179; PI. 56.1 7 179.)

[I. Discussion
a. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is proper only wheonstruing the evidence in the light most
favorable to the non-movant, “theieno genuine dispute as toyamaterial fact and the movant

is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56¢&)also Kwong v. Bloomberg

1 According to Birmingham, she was ne¥ermally disciplined. (Birmingham Dep.
64:5-65:19.)



--- F.3d ---, ---, 2013 WL 3388446, at *4 (2d Cir. July 9, 20Rdd v. N.Y. Div. of Parqlé78
F.3d 166, 174 (2d Cir. 2012). The role of the t@munot “to weigh the evidence and determine
the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue foiGidfi'v.

Averill Park Cent. Sch. Dist. Bd. of Edud44 F.3d 158, 162 (2d Cir. 2006) (quotiwgderson

v. Liberty Lobby, In¢.477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986)). A genuissue of fact existwhen there is
sufficient “evidence on which the jury calteasonably find for the plaintiff. Anderson477

U.S. at 252. The “mere existence of a scintill@wtlence” is not sufficient to defeat summary
judgment; “there must be evidence on which the jury could reasofmadfipr the plaintiff.” 1d.
The court’s function is to decide “whethafter resolving all ambiguities and drawing all
inferences in favor of the nonawing party, a rational juror couldid in favor of that party.”
Pinto v. Allstate Ins. Cp221 F.3d 394, 398 (2d Cir. 2000). The Second Circuit has “cautioned
that ‘[w]here an employer acted with discrimingtmtent, direct evidere of that intent will

only rarely be available, so affidavits amepositions must be carefully scrutinized for
circumstantial proof which, if beked, would show discrimination.”Taddeo v. L.M. Berry &
Co,, --- F. App’X ---, ---, 2013 WL 1943274, at *1 (2d Cir. May 13, 2013) (quoGogzynski v.
JetBlue Airways Corp596 F .3d 93, 101 (2d Cir. 2010)).

b. Gender Discrimination Claim

Plaintiff claims that he was treated differently, and constrely terminated, on account
of his gender. Title VII prohibits an employfeom discharging or discriminating “against any
individual with respect to his compensationnts, conditions, or privileges of employment,
because of such individual's race, color,gien, sex, or national oriig.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e—
2(a)(1). Thus, “[a]n employmengdision . . . violates Title VII whenis ‘based in whole or in
part on discrimination.””’Holcomb v. lona Collegeb21 F.3d 130, 137 (2d Cir. 2008) (quoting

Feingold v. New YorkK366 F.3d 138, 152 (2d Cir. 2004)).



Title VII claims are assessed using the burden-shifting framework established by the
Supreme Court iMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. GreeAll U.S. 792 (1973).See Mills v. S.
Conn. State Uniy--- F. App’x ---, 2013 WL 2157955, &1 (2d Cir. May 21, 2013) (applying
McDonnell Douglagramework to gender discriminati claim). Under the framework, a
plaintiff must first establish a jpna facie case of discriminatiorst. Mary’s Honor Citr. v. Hicks
509 U.S. 502, 506 (19933ee also Ruiz v. County Of Rockla6@9 F.3d 486, 491 (2d Cir.
2010). Plaintiff's burden at thstage is “minimal.”"Holcomh 521 F.3d at 139 (quotirtdicks
509 U.S. at 506). If Plaintiff satisfies thistial burden, the burden then shifts to Defendant to
articulate a legitimate, nondiscrinatory reason for its actionslicks, 509 U.S. at 506—-0Ruiz
609 F.3d at 492. Defendant’s burdenritg a particularly steep hurdleHyek v. Field Support
Servs, 702 F. Supp. 84, 93 (E.D.N.Y. 2010). It “is adfgoroduction, not psuasion; it ‘can
involve no credibility assessment.Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., B0 U.S. 133,
142 (2000) (quotingdicks, 509 U.S. at 509). If Defendariffers a legitimate, nondiscriminatory
explanation for its action, summary judgment nuigtbe denied, howevelf, Plaintiff can show
that “the evidence in plaintiff's favor, when viewidthe light most favorable the plaintiff, is
sufficient to sustain a reasonalileding that his dismissal wamotivated at least in part by
[gender] discrimination.”Adamczyk v. N.Y. Dep’t of Corr. Serv&74 F. App’x 23, 25 (2d Cir.
2012) (quotinglomassi v. Insignia Fin. Grp., In&478 F.3d 111, 114 (2d Cir. 20073ge also

Univ. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassaro U.S. ---, ---, 133 S. Ct. 2517, 2522-23 (2013) (“An

2 The burden of proof and production &mployment discrimination claims under Title
VIl and the NYSHRL are identicalHyek v. Field Support Servs., Ind61 F. App’x 59, 60 (2d
Cir. 2012) (“Claims brought undéine NYSHRL ‘are analyzed id&oally’ and ‘the outcome of
an employment discrimination claim made pursuant to the NYSHRL is the same as it is
under . . . Title VII.”” (alteation in original) (quotingmith v. Xerox Corp196 F.3d 358, 363 n.
1 (2d Cir. 1999))). Therefore, PlaintiffGtle VIl and NYSHRL discrimination claims are
analyzed together for pposes of this motion.
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employee who alleges status-based discrimination under Title VII need not show that the causal
link between injury and wrong is stose that the injuryould not have occurred but for the act.
So-called but-for causation is not the testsulfices instead to show that the motive to

discriminate was one of the employer’s motiv@asen if the employer also had other, lawful

motives that were causativethe employer’s decision.”Edwards v. Huntington Union Free

Sch. Dist. No. 11-CV-1408, 2013 WL 3785620, at *5 (ENDY. July 18, 2013) (explaining the
burden shifting analysis for Title VII claims).

Defendant argues that Plafhtannot establish a prima facie case because there is no
adverse action and no inference of discrimora (Def. Mem. 10-15.) For the following
reasons, viewing all facts in the light most favorabl®@laintiff, the Court finds that Plaintiff has
presented sufficient evidence from which a reabtejury could find that Plaintiff suffered
gender based discrimination.

i. Plaintiff's Prima Facie Case

To establish a prima facie case of employntkscrimination under Title VII, a plaintiff
must show that: (1) he belongs to a protectads; (2) he was quakd for the position in
guestion; (3) he suffered an adverse employraetibn; and (4) the adverse employment action
occurred under “circumstancgwing rise to an inferae of gender discrimination.Mills, --- F.
App’x at ---, 2013 WL 2157955, at *3ge alsdoe v. City of New Yorlkd73 F. App’'x 24, 27
(2d Cir. 2012). Defendant cona=ithat Plaintiff satisfies the first two elements of his prima
facie case. (Tr. 7:11-15; Def. Mem. 10.) Ri#ilmas established that he is “a member of a
protected class (male),” satisfying the first elemehidge v. N.Y.C. Police DepNo. 05-CV-
2440, 2008 WL 852010, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 27, 2008)nce Plaintiff was at his job for
approximately nine years (Def. 56.1 1 1; PI. 561) §nd Defendant does not dispute that he was

qualified for his position, Plaintiffias satisfied the second eleme8lattery v. Swiss

11



Reinsurance Am. Corp248 F.3d 87, 92 (2d Cir. 2001) (haidithat plaintiff who had been
performing for seven years met the “minimal qualification for a jok&;man-Mastour v. Fin.
Indus. Regulatory Auth., InB14 F. Supp. 2d 355, 367 (S.D.N2011) (finding that plaintiff

who worked for defendant for “eight years befshe was terminated” and was promoted several
times met the minimal requirement&ipbs v. City of New Yoriko. 02-CV-2424, 2005 WL
497796, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 21, 2005) (finding thiaintiff establishedhe second prong of his
gender discrimination claim where defendait vt dispute that heas qualified for his

position). Defendant argues, however, that Afaiceannot show that he suffered an adverse
employment action or that any adverse emmilegit action occured under circumstances giving
rise to discriminatory intent lsad on his gender. (Def. Mem. 10-11.)

1. Adverse Employment Action

Defendant argues that Plaintiff did not sufferamverse action because he resigned rather
than “wait for the [Medical Center] to deterraithe appropriate discipliny action to be taken
against him.” (Def. Mem. 11.) Plaintiff maintaithat he was constructively discharged because
he was told that he would berminated if he did not resigh(Pl. Opp’n Mem. 14; PI. Dep.
153:2-22.) In order to establish adverse action, Plaintiff mustmenstrate that he suffered “a
materially adverse change ingjlemployment status or the terms and conditions of his
employment.” Kessler v. Westchester Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. Set84. F.3d 199, 207 (2d Cir.

2006). An adverse employment action is ainéch is “more disruptive than a mere
inconvenience or an alteration of job responsibilitieBrown v. City of Syracusé73 F.3d 141,
150 (2d Cir. 2012) (quotingoseph v. Leavitd65 F.3d 87, 90 (2d Cir. 2006¥ee also Albuja v.

Nat’l Broad. Co. Universal, Ing851 F. Supp. 2d 599, 606 (S.D.N2012) (noting that to

% According to Defendant, it never requesRintiff's resignation or advised him that
his employment would be terminated. (Def. Mem. 12.)
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satisfy the “adverse employmeattion” requirement, a plaifitimust present an employment
action that affected the depaitvon of “some ‘tangible job lbefits’ such as ‘compensation,
terms, conditions or privilegeof employment.” (quoting\ifano v. Costellp294 F.3d 365, 373
(2d Cir. 2002)). A constructivdischarge is “functionallyhe same as an actual termination” and
therefore is considered adverse employment actidrPa. State Police v. SudeB42 U.S. 129,
148 (2004)see also Fitzgerald v. Henders@b1 F.3d 345, 357 (2d Cir. 2001) (“Adverse
employment actions include discharge from eamgpient. Such a discharge may be either an
actual termination of the plaifits employment by the employer ar‘constructive’ discharge.”);
Edwards 2013 WL 3785620, at *8 (“A constructive discha is ‘functionally the same as an
actual termination’ and therefore is corgield an adverse employment action.” (quoiag
State Police542 U.S. at 148))frachtenberg v. Dep’t of Educ. of N.Y,.8o. 12-CV-7964, 2013
WL 1335651, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 3, 2013) (“[A¢onstructive discharge’ from employment
does constitute an adverse@ayment action . . . ."”).

A constructive discharge occurs when an emgidintentionally create[s] an intolerable
work atmosphere that force[s tpkintiff] to quit involuntarily.” Andersen v. Rochester City
Sch. Dist, 481 F. App’x 628, 632 (2d Cir. 2012) (quotisgrricchio v. Wachovia Secs. L1658
F.3d 169, 185 (2d Cir. 2011)ert. denied133 S. Ct. 836 (20133pe also Edward2013 WL
3785620, at *8 (“A constructive disarge occurs only ‘when an efhayer intentionally creates a

work atmosphere so intolerable that [the it is forced to quit involuntarily.” (quoting

Borski v. Staten Island Rapid Trangitl3 F. App’x 409, 411 (2d Cir. 2011)) (internal quotation

* Defendant argues in both its Memorandum of Law and its Reply Memorandum of Law
that Plaintiff’'s constructive dischge “claim” fails. (Def. Reply ai6.) Plaintiff clarified at oral
argument that he was not assegta separate constructive disctegactpim, but rather sought to
maintain his sexual harassment and retaliation claims on a theory of constructive discharge.
(Oral Arg. Tr. 3:11-17.)
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marks omitted))Stofsky v. Pawling Cent. Sch. Dig&35 F. Supp. 2d 272, 299 (S.D.N.Y. 2009)
(“Constructive discharge occurs when the eayet, rather than acity directly, deliberately
makes an employee’s working conditions so inediée that the employee is forced into an
involuntary resignation.” (quotinilorris v. Schroder @pital Mgmt. Int’l, 481 F.3d 86, 88 (2d
Cir. 2007))). “To find that an employee’s resijoa amounted to a constructive discharge, ‘the
trier of fact must be satisfigtiat the . . . working conditionsould have been so difficult or
unpleasant that a reasonable person in th@ame’s shoes would have felt compelled to
resign.” Whidbee v. Garzarelli Food Specialties, 223 F.3d 62, 73 (2d Cir. 2000) (quoting
Lopez v. S.B. Thoma®31 F.2d 1184, 1188 (2d Cir. 198Mklville v. Firmenich Ing.No. 08-
CV-10891, 2013 WL 363391, at *10 n.9.(6N.Y. Jan. 31, 2013) (quotinghidbee 223 F.3d at
73)); see also Edward013 WL 3785620, at *9 (“[IJn orddo determine whether the work
conditions were ‘so intolerabbes to compel resignation,’ tikenditions must be ‘assessed
objectively by reference to a reasonablespe in the employeg’position.” (quotingPetrosino

v. Bell Atl, 385 F.3d 210, 229 (2d Cir. 2004))).

A. Threats of Termination

In order to establish constructive discharg is not enough for a plaintiff to resign
instead of facing potential disciplinary chargBailey v. N.Y.C. Bd. of Edy&36 F. Supp. 2d
259, 266 (E.D.N.Y. 2007), nor is it enough foplaintiff to fear terminatioriiassie v. lkon
Office Solutions. In¢381 F. Supp. 2d 91, 96-100 (N.D.N.Y. 2005) (where plaintiff had received
numerous warnings regardingshnadequate work performance and was told he might be
terminated if he filed a complaint against hipesvisor, his “fear of bag terminated [was] not
an adverse employment action because oad bf consequence”). However, threats of
termination may be sufficient &how constructive discharg&rey v. City of Norwalk Bd. of

Educ, 304 F. Supp. 2d 314, 324 (D. Conn. 2004) (citingez v. S.B. Thomas, In831 F.2d
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1184, 1188 (2d Cir. 1987)3ee also Chertkova v. Conn. Life Ins.,®2 F.3d 81, 89-90 (2d Cir.
1996) (“InLopez we held that telling @lintiff he would be firedollowing probation, ‘no matter
what he did to improve hislagedly deficient performance,” waufficient alone to support a
finding of constructive discharge.” (Quotihgpez 831 F.2d at 1188)Btout v. Town of
Tonawanda Police Dep’'tNo. 09-CV-261S, 2011 WL 1260049, at *4 (W.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2011)
(“The most common constructive discharge case ingokeded or direct tteats that failure to
resign will result in discharge.” (citatiand internal quotatiomarks omitted))Silverman v.

City of New York216 F. Supp. 2d 108, 115-66 (E.D.N.Y. 2002A'humber of courts in this
circuit have held that threats of termimetimay be sufficient to establish constructive
discharge.”)aff'd, 64 F. App’x 799 (2d Cir. 2003)aldes v. N.Y.C. Dep’t of Env. Protection
No. 95-CV-10407, 1997 WL 666279, at *3 (S.D.N.Y.tQ&7, 1997) (“[A]Jn employer’s clearly
expressed desire that anmoyee resign has been heldfsient to find a constructive
discharge.”).

Courts look to a variety dactors to determine whethtiireats of termination are
sufficient, such as whether the threats of tertionavere repeated, direar involved additional
adverse conductSee e.g. Murray v. Town of N. Hempste&sB F. Supp. 2d 247, 270 (E.D.N.Y.
2012) (finding no construtive discharge where eypé merely heard a rumor that supervisor
wanted him terminatedicCalla v. SUNYDownstate Med. CtrNo. 03-CV-2633, 2006 WL
1662635, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. June 8, 2006) (finding tphktintiff successfully pled an adverse
employment action where defendaptesented plaintiff with a resigtion letter and told him if
he did not sign it, he would be fadeand his career would be ruine@yey, 304 F. Supp. 2d at
324 (noting that a variety of circumstances meawhployee’s situation “intolerable,” including:

the repeated threat that her position wdadceliminated; a rumored letter announcing her
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termination; petty reprimands; and suggestiat the District buybek her contract and
subsequent comment that she shaaldsider herself “finished”)aldes 1997 WL 666279, at

*3 (“plaintiff's allegation that his supervisors tatimn that ‘it was best if [he] resigned’ because
he ‘was going to be terminatexteates a triable issue @ dt on the question of whether a
constructive discharge occurred” (citation omitted)). “A triable issue of fact as to constructive
discharge may be demonstrated by proof tharployee was presented with the decision to
resign or be fired.”Rupert v. City of Rochester, Dep’t of Env. Seri81 F. Supp. 2d 430, 440
(W.D.N.Y. 2010).

Plaintiff has presented evidence from whighrg could find that Defendant decided to
terminate him, and that he was forced to cledostween resignation atefmination. According
to Larson, Plaintiff's Union Advisor, Robbinsfermed her that Defendant was “unequivocally
seeking the termination” of PHiff. (Larson Decl. § 5.) Laon informed Plaintiff that he
would be terminated if he did not resign and adgihim to resign or riskrreparable” damage
to his reputation. (Pl. Dep. 224:24-225:Agcording to Plaintiff's testimony, Robbins
communicated to him directly that he wouldtbaminated if he did not resign. (PIl. Dep.

224:18-223 According to Plaintiff, Robbins madieclear that suspension was not an option

> Defendant cites to an earlier portion of Plaintiff's défims testimony where Plaintiff
appeared to indicate that onlyrsan, not Robbins, told him that he would be terminated if he
did not resign. (Def. Reply 3—4Defendant argues that statements to the contrary must be
disregarded. Id. at 4.) During the same deposition, howeWaintiff clarified that Robbins had
indicated to him that he would be termirgatgPIl. Dep. 224:18-225:2.) Accordingly, the Court
finds that a genuine issue of fact exists reg@avhether Plaintiff heard directly from Robbins
that he would be terminate&eeBarrows v. Seneca Foods Carpl12 F. App’x 115, 119 (2d
Cir. Feb. 2013) (holding that “gaps and inconsistes” in the plaintiff's testimony as long as
the testimony is not “wholly conclusory, contreiiry, or incomplete” should go to the jury for
the “jury to ‘assess[ ] . . . a witness’s credibilitydlteration in original) (quotingincher v.
Depository Trust & Clearing Corp604 F.3d 712, 725 (2d Cir. 2010))odge v. Vill. of
Southampton838 F. Supp. 2d 67, 76 (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (statimaf in order to find for a plaintiff
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and told him that she was “being pressured lopmmittee” to terminate him. (Pl. Dep. 152:1—
153:8.) Robbins informed him that if he resigfiest, she would discdmue her investigation,
rather than placing an officialfding against Plaintiff in his folt. (Pl. Dep. 153:3-8.) Plaintiff
testified that he believed, based on the compatiuns from Robbins and Larson, that he would
be terminated if he did not resign. (PIl. Dep. 225:3-6.)

Defendant has presented contrary evidendeating that it had not yet decided what
disciplinary action would be imposed and thabBins had not requested Plaintiff's resignation
or advised Plaintiff that he woulte terminated if he did not resign(Def. Mem. 12; Robbins
Aff. 1 38.) However, it is for a jury to dete whether to credit Platiff's version or the
Defendant’s version of the factSee In re Fosamax Products Liab. Litig07 F.3d 189, 194 n.4
(2d Cir. 2013) (“[T]he general rule remains theatlistrict court may not discredit a witness’s
deposition testimony on a motion for summary jmeégt, because the assessment of a witness’s
credibility is a function resged for the jury.” (quoting=incher v. Depository Trust and
Clearing Corp, 604 F.3d 712, 725 (2d Cir. 201Q#rt. denied133 S. Ct. 2783 (2013)jilfort
v. PreveteNo. 10-CV-4467, 2013 WL 519041, at (6.D.N.Y. Feb. 13, 2013) (“[T]he
credibility of witnesses is not to be asselslsg the court on a motidor summary judgment.
Resolutions of credibility conflicts and choidestween conflicting versns of the facts are
matters for the jury, not for the court on summaggment.” (citationgnd internal quotation

marks omitted)).

at summary judgment, there need not be otegpretation of the depii®n testimony, as long
as “a rational jury” could draw the interpretatifavorable to the non-moving party and it was “a
reasonable” interpretation).

® Defendant states that Robbins wasthetfinal decision maker with respect to a

potential termination, but that it was a jogifort between Robbinand the Executive Vice
President. (Tr. 10:6-9.)
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B. Availability of Grievance Procedures

Defendant maintains that, even if Plaintiffibeed he was about to be terminated, he was
not constructively discharged because he had rights under his Union’s collective bargaining
agreement (“Collective Bargaining Agreement{lRef. Reply Mem. 16-17.) “[C]ourts in this
circuit generally have refused to find a condiecdischarge where an employee had an avenue
through which he could seek redress for thegaliy ‘intolerable’ work atmosphere leading up
to his resignation, but failetd take advantage thereofSilverman 216 F. Supp. 2d at 115
(“[T]he fact that [plaintiff] could have soughtreearing before being teimated eviscerates his
claim that threats of termination created anciietable’ situation which left him with but one
choice: resignation.”see als@pence v. Md. Cas. G895 F.2d 1147, 1156-57 (2d Cir. 1993)
(finding that a plaintiff claiming defendants deliberately attempted to make him ill in order to
force him to resign failed to estaéd#l constructive discharge becauséer alia, he could have
lodged a complaint with human resources about the behawerypecker v. Sayville Union
Free School Dist.890 F. Supp. 2d 215, 235-36 (E.D.N.Y. 20@®)lding that a supervisor’'s
recommendation that plaintiff be terminatgds not a constructive discharge because, among
other things, plaintiff had the “ability to request reasongiferrecommendation from [the
supervisor] and submit a respons&ydriguez v. Graham-Windham Servs. To Families &
Children, No. 99-CV-10447, 2001 WL 46985, at *6 (S.DYNJan. 18, 2001) (finding that one
of the reasons plaintiff’'s demotion did not rits constructive didearge was that she was
aware of her employer’s complaint resolutmocedures but made no complaint to human
resources alleging discrimination or mistreatmelé)iz v. Beth Israel Med. CiiNo. 95-CV-
7183, 2001 WL 11064, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (holdingttthere was noonstructive discharge
where plaintiff voluntarily resignedfter being “unfairly discipling,” yelled at, and threatened

with termination at least once, because, amohgrdhings, she could have filed a grievance
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regarding the unfair reprimand§tembridge v. City of New Yo&8 F. Supp. 2d 276, 284-85
(S.D.N.Y. 2000) (finding no constructive discha where plaintiff was suspended without pay,
an informal conference was scheduled to addites disciplinary charges against plaintiff,
plaintiff was given the opportunity to appeatta conference with counsel, and plaintiff had the
right to appeal and request aamihearing, but plaintiff resigned on the date of the informal
conference and requested that it be cancdilechuse “in light ofhe fair hearing and
opportunity to be heard before saependent arbiter, a rationatyuwcould not plausibly find that
a reasonable person in plaffi situation would have fié compelled to resign”).

However, these cases generally involve cirstamnces in which the plaintiff had access to
a hearing prior to termination or had reasohébeve that after-the-fact grievance procedures
might be successfuRupert 701 F. Supp. 2d at 440-41 (distinguishing cases finding
constructive discharge claims foreclosed andrgfdhat it was “an unsedéitl proposition at best”
as to whether such authority applied to cirstamces in which “the plaintiff-employee [was]
subject to automatic termination in the event tlebr she chose not gpieve the decision”);
see, e.g. Silverma16 F. Supp. 2d at 116 (“[T]he fact that [plaintiff] could have sought a
hearing before being terminated eviscerateslhim that threats of termination created an
‘intolerable’ situation which left Imn with but one choice: resignation.gff'd, 64 F. App’x 799
(2d Cir. 2003)Bailey, 535 F. Supp. 2d at 265-67 (findingtiplaintiff-teacher who resigned
before a hearing regarding disciplinary aes brought against him was not constructively
discharged, as he could have responded tolthmes and raised complaints of discrimination
during the hearing)stembridge88 F. Supp. 2d at 284—86 (finding no constructive discharge
where “plaintiff had the opportunity to present hidesof the story in thecheduled disciplinary

hearing,” because “[iJt ismpossible to know whether the hiegy could have actually remedied
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the situation or address the . . . misconduct mcalaintiff chose ndb participate in the
process”)Weisbecker890 F. Supp. 2d at 235-36 (finding thedommendation that plaintiff be
terminated as a probationary teacher wasarsminstructive discinge because, among other
things, plaintiff could have requested reasfmmghe recommendation and submitted a response);
Katz, 2001 WL 11064, at *13 (finding that wherapitiff was aware of another employee
successfully challenging her temation through after-the-factigvance procedures and being
reinstated, plaintiff failed to establish constructive discharge, beeaesesonable person would
not have felt compelled to resign since they ktiesy had an effective process available to them
even if they were terminated).

Defendant maintains that the Collective Bargaining Agreement “explicitly provided
Plaintiff with the opportunity to grieve any disciplinary actions with which he disagreed.” (Def.
Reply 17.) Although Defendant maintains thdtad not yet decidedahether to terminate
Plaintiff, Plaintiff has presented evidence thatreasonably undeostd that the decision had
been madeSee Rupert701 F. Supp. 2d at 441 (distinguisfpicases in which constructive
discharge claims were foreclosed by feglto take “advantage of employer-provided
opportunities to challenge the allegedly intatde working conditions” because, among other
things, plaintiff alleged that ¢hdefendant “clearly expressediitgention to terminate him upon
the conclusion of the grievance process,” andoine of the other cases “was the plaintiff-
employee subject to automatic termination inglient that he or she chose not to grieve the
decision”). Therefore, for purposes of thistimn, the Court will assume that Plaintiff would
have been terminated had he not resigned. Uniikst of the cases invohg the availability of

grievance procedures discussed above, Hfatatild not have availed himself of grievance
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procedures prior to resigningOral Arg. Tr. 11:10-12, 24:5-10Ipstead, Plaintiff would have
had to wait to be terminatedfbee challenging the decisionld(at 11:10-12, 24:5-10.)

Under the Collective Bargaining Agreenmiean employee may complain to the
department head, then to human resourcesthemdthe complaint may be appealed to the
arbitration board if the union so chooses. (Ddigrigecl. Ex. F, Article XXII.) Shortly prior to
Plaintiff's termination, he filed a sexual hasanent complaint with huam resources regarding
Birmingham’s behavior C.f. Rodriguez2001 WL 46985, at *6 (on claims of race and age
discrimination, plaintiff could not establishestwvas constructively discharged following her
demotion becaus@ter alia, plaintiff never complained to Imean resources of discrimination or
mistreatment). Plaintiff has presented evidaheg subsequent to his filing a complaint, two
department heads, Pernice and Romano, pressured Wilson into submitting a statement against
Plaintiff, (Wilson Decl. {1 8-9), Romano retd to allow Birmingham to withdraw her
complaint against Plaintiff, (Scott Decl. 1 8nhd Defendant “unequivoltg’ sought Plaintiff's
termination, (Larson Decl.  5). Since the fivgb steps of the griev&e process involve the
department heads and human resources, a&quig determine that reasonable person in
Plaintiff's position would haveancluded that, if he waited tme terminated, the available
grievance procedures would not have impactedtitcome, since the regknt department heads
and human resources were the ones taking act@nsidim and applying pssure to others to

submit statements against Plainfiff.

’ Plaintiff argues that hilmought grievance proceduresuid be a rubber stamp process
because he did not know of anyone who baen successful. (Oral Arg. Tr. 22:9-19.)
Defendant disagrees, arguing tRéaintiff had previously beeinvolved in the grievance process
and was aware of his contractual rights. (D&m. 22.) The central inquiry is whether a
reasonable person in Plaintiff's position would have believed that they had no other option but
resignation.See Giller v. Oracle USA, InG12 F. App’x 71, 74 (2d Ci2013) (holding that the
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Defendant argues that, even if Plaintiff thoutyte relevant department heads and human
resources were biased against him, indepeatrdiecision-makers wodlhave had ultimate
authority regarding a compldifiled through the grievancegredures. (Oral Arg. Tr. 25:23—
26:6.) According to the Collective Bargainingrdgment, a complaint denied by the department
head and human resources could only be appé&akad outside arbitratavith the support of the
Union, and Plaintiff was advised lbys Union Advisor that he shaiifesign or risk “irreparable”
damage to his reputation. (Pl. Dep. 153:12-24, 224:18-225:6.) Plaintiff may reasonably have
understood that he could ety on a Union appealSee Rupeyt701 F. Supp. 2d at 435 (stating
that plaintiff, who did not rguest available arbitration predures, may have reasonably
understood his union representativeatement that “[tjhey were done[;][t]his was what | got” to
mean that the union would refuse to arbit@tehis behalf and thagtirement was the only
viable option (alterations in iginal)). Under these circumstzgs, a reasonable jury could find
that Plaintiff was compelled to resign,eevthough the Collective Bargaining Agreement
allowed for grievance poedures post-terminatiorsee Chertkoyad2 F.3d at 89 (noting that in
Lopez the Second Circuit held “thtlling plaintiff he would be fired following probation, ‘no
matter what he did to improve his allegedlyicient performance,’ was sufficient alone to

support a finding of constructive discharge” (quotiagpez 831 F.2d at 1188)). Plaintiff has

standard for constructive discharig whether the plaintiff's “arking conditions are ‘so difficult

or unpleasant that a reasongtdeson in the employee’s shoes would have felt compelled to
resign’™ (quotingTerry v. Ashcroft336 F.3d 128, 152 (2d Cir. 2003Rupert v. City of

Rochester, Dep't of Envtl. Seryg01 F. Supp. 2d 430, 440 (W.D.N.2010) (“A triable issue of

fact as to constructive discharge may be demonstrated by proof that an employee was presented
with the decision to resign or be fired.”). Ighit of Plaintiff's most recent experience with
Defendant’s grievance proceduras,discussed above, a reasonablecould conclude Plaintiff
thought he had no otheption but to resign.
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provided sufficient evidence to create a matessiie of fact as to whether he suffered an
adverse employment action.

2. Inference of Discrimination

Inference of discrimination “is a ‘flexible [stdard] that can be ssfied differently in
differing factual scenarios.”"Howard v. MTA Metro-N. Commuter R,B66 F. Supp. 2d 196,
204 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (quotinGhertkova 92 F.3d at 91). “No one particular type of proof is
required to show that Plaintiff's terminatioacurred under circumste®s giving rise to an
inference of discrimination.'Ofoedu v. St. Francis Hosp. & Med. CtNo. 04-CV-1707, 2006
WL 2642415, at *14 (D. Conn. Sept. 13, 2006). Anitiafee of discrimination can be raised by
“showing that an employer treated [an employes$ favorably than a similarly situated
employee outside his protected grougbdul-Hakeem v. Parkinspr- F. App’x ---, 2013 WL
3111300, at *1 (2d Cir. June 21, 2013) (quofigz 609 F.3d at 493kee also Shlafer v.
Wackenhut Corp837 F. Supp. 2d 20, 25 (D. Conn. 2011) &iRliff must set forth factual
circumstances from which discriminatory tivation may be inferred. Discriminatory
motivation may be established by allegations ofgrexitial treatment given to similarly situated
individuals, or remarks conveying disoinatory animus.” (citations omitted)yjabry v.
Neighborhood Defender Serv69 F. Supp. 2d 381, 392 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (“Allegations
supporting motive may include preéstial treatment given to sikarly situated individuals or
remarks that convey discriminatory animus.guch a showing “is a recognized method of
raising an inference of discrimination for therposes of making out a prima facie cadeuiz
609 F.3d at 493 (internal quotation marks omittéthe ‘standard for comparing conduct
requires a reasonably close resemblance dattte and circumstances$ plaintiff's and
comparator’'s cases,’ such thdtétcomparator must be similarly situated to the plaintiff in all

material respects.”’Abdul-Hakeem--- F. App’x at ---, 2013 WL 3111300, at *1 (quotiRgiz
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609 F.3d at 494kee also Drummond v. IPC Int'l, In@l00 F. Supp. 2d 521, 532 (E.D.N.Y.

2005) (“Under Second Circuit law, where a pldirdeeks to make out a case of discrimination

‘by pointing to the disparate treatment of a purpdiy similarly situated employee, the plaintiff
must show that [ |he shared sufficient employment characteristics with that comparator so that
they could be considered similarly sited.” (alteration iroriginal) (quotingShumway v. United
Parcel Serv., In¢.118 F.3d 60, 64 (2d Cir. 1997))).

The two positions need not besittical however, thegeed only be “sufficiently similar”
to support at least a “minimal inference thatdiféerence in treatment may be attributable to
discrimination.” Cutler v. Stop & Shop Supermarket Co., L.L.513 F. App’'x 81, 83 (2d Cir.
2013) (quotingMcGuiness v. Lincoln Hglk63 F.3d 49, 54 (2d Cir. 2001¥ee also DeFina v.
Meenan Qil Co., In¢No. 10-CV-5068, 2013 WL 596622, at *10 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 15, 2013)
(“The law does not require the employees taibdlarly situated in all respects, but rather
requires that they be similarly situated inraliterialrespects.” (citindicGuiness263 F.3d at
54)). “An employee is similarly siated to co-employees if theyere (1) subject to the same
performance evaluation and di@ine standards an@) engaged in comparable conduct.”
Abdul-Hakeem--- F. App’x at ---, 2013 WL 3111300, at *1 (quotiRgiiz 609 F.3d at 493-94)
(internal quotation marks omittedjee also Graham v. Long Island RZ30 F.3d 34, 39-40 (2d
Cir. 2000) (“We have said that to satiSiiumway’sall material respects’ standard for being
similarly situated, a plaintiff must show tha¢r co-employees were subject to the same
performance evaluation and di@mne standardsln addition, the standard we usedShumway
requires plaintiff to show that similarly siteat employees who went undisciplined engaged in
comparable conduct.” (citations omitted)). dther words, there should be an objectively

identifiable basis for comparability.Graham 230 F.3d at 40 (internal quotation marks omitted)
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(“Hence, the standard for comparing conduct n&gua reasonably close resemblance of the
facts and circumstances of plaintiff's and corapars cases, ratherah a showing that both
cases are identical.”). “Ordinarily, whether atkenployees are similarly situated is a factual
issue that should be submitted to a jury, but ‘[t]his rule is not absolute . . . and a court can
properly grant summary judgment where itlsar that no reasonable jury could find the
similarly situated prong met.”"Sweeney v. Leondo. 05-CV-871, 2006 WL 2246372, at *13
(D. Conn. July 31, 2006) (quotirtgarlen Assocs. v. Inc. Vill. of Mineqla73 F.3d 494, 499 n.2
(2d Cir. 2001))see also Lugo v. City of New Yprk F. App’Xx ---, --, 2013 WL 1811271, at *2
(2d Cir. May 1, 2013) (finding that the plaintiiad not provided “any information from which a
reasonable jury could conclude that the ofceferenced were similarly situated to” the
plaintiff).

A. Similarly Situated

Defendant argues that Plaintiff and Bingham were not similarly situated because
Plaintiff and Birmingham heldifferent positions and repodédo different supervisors —
Birmingham was a registered nurse superviseRdipano and Plaintiff was an MRI technician
supervised by Pernice. (Def. Mem. 14.) Sintyigituated employees do not necessarily need to
share the same position, “[n]or do they necessaabd to report to the same supervisdtdss
v. Coca Cola EntersNo. 07-CV-1322, 2011 WL 1303346, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2011)
(“*All material respects’ does not .. mean ‘all respects.” (quotingcGuinness263 F.3d at 53—
54)); see Gorzynskb96 F.3d at 109 n.7 (“Although an empt@ys position is relevant to the
analysis, employees need not be of the exact sanketo be considered ‘similarly situated.”);
Berube v. Great Atl. & Pac. Tea C848 F. App’x 684, 686 (2d Cir. 20D (“[T]he fact that [the
plaintiff] had a different supervisor from the ployees he cites as comparators does not appear

sufficient in itself to preclude [the plaintifffom showing that he was subject to the same

25



workplace standards and disciplinary procedureBltGuinness263 F.3d at 53-54 (it is a
“misreading” of Second Circuit law to hold tHainother employee cannot be similarly situated
to a plaintiff unless the other employee tiael same supervisor, worked under the same
standards, and engaged in the same conduciiign v. Securitas Sec. Servs. USA,, IN0. 08-
CV-1715, 2010 WL 1553778, at *9 (D. Conn. Apf, 2010) (“[T]he fact that different
employees were supervised and disciplibgdlifferent supervisors might make them
inappropriate comparators depending on the paatidacts involved, but it does not as a matter
of law preclude the fact finder from making a c@mgon if the facts suggests that a comparison
is appropriate.”).

Although Plaintiff and Birmingham held differejatbs and were supervised by different
individuals, they worked at tHdedical Center, in the same dejpaent, and were subject to the
same rules and regulations promulgated in Defendant’s Sexual Harassment Policy. Defendant’s
Sexual Harassment Policy prohibits “[ijnappropriateinwelcome conduct of a sexual nature”
by “employees, supervisors, patigrresidents, visitors, vendass any other person.” (Def.

56.1 1 9.) By its terms, the Sexual Harassment Policy applies to all employees, and Defendant
has not argued, nor is there awdence to suggest, that thdippwas applied more stringently

to MRI technicians than registered nurs8ge Delia v. Donaho8&62 F. Supp. 2d 196, 216
(E.D.N.Y. 2012) (sufficient evidexe that plaintiff and coworkewere “subject to the same
workplace standards,” even though the cowonlelike plaintiff, was a supervisor, because
defendant’s Workplace Violence Pglitexplicitly state[d] thait [was] applicable to all

employees,” and defendant did “not suggest} gupervisory employees were subject to a
different set of standards with respect to erae or threatening actions in the workplace”);

White v. Conn., Dep’t of CorrNo. 08-CV-1168, 2010 WL 3447505, at *5 (D. Conn. Aug. 24,
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2010) (although employees held different positions and diffeagiis, a reasonable jury could
find that they were similarly situated becausedirective, by its terms, applied to “[e]ach
employee,” and there was no evidence to suggasttib directive was apied “more stringently
to supervisory employees”). Although Riaif and Birmingham reported to different
supervisors, both were investigated for violatiohghis universally applicably policy, not for
“supervisor-specific” violationsSee White2010 WL 3447505, at *6 (disgarding defendant’s
argument that plaintiff was subject to “sugseor specific” workplace standards where “the
investigatory report and the recommendations femdéisal d[id] not mentin any violations that
were ‘supervisor-specific,” instead focusingiply on [plaintiff's] béhavior in allegedly
violating the universally applicable [directive]"Moreover, they were both investigated by
Robbins. (Def. 56.1 11 138; PI. 56.1 1 138.) Tleegfviewing the facts in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff, it appears that Plafinvas not subjected tdifferent “workplace
standards” than Birmingham and that they wsingilarly situated in all material respeéts.

B. Comparable Conduct

Defendant also argues thaamitiff's conduct — taking a phograph “under the dress of
Ms. Birmingham” and sharing it with his co-workerswas objectively more severe than that of
Birmingham. (Def. Mem. 13-14.) “When a plaffis misconduct is objectively more serious
than that of a proposed comparator, differénteatment by the employer does not create an
issue of fact that will defeat a motion for summary judgme@ohway v. Microsoft Corp414

F. Supp. 2d 450, 464 (S.D.N.Y. 2006ge Barney v. Consol. Edison Co. of N381 F. App’x

8 Defendant notes that Plaintiff and Binrgham were subject wifferent collective
bargaining agreements. (Def. Mem. 15.) haligh Defendant assethtat “the terms and
conditions of Plaintiff’'s emplayent were governed by [his] Wm’'s CBA,” there is no evidence
before the Court that Defendant’'s Sexuatdéament Policy was applied differently to
employees based on the terms of thespeetive collective bargaining agreements.
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993, 996 (2d Cir. 2010) (no reasonable jury could firad plaintiff was similarly situated to co-
worker, where plaintiff “intentionally entered falevertime data in order to receive more pay
and then attempted to cover it up,” and therader “merely failed taeview [plaintiff's]

overtime entries correctly, conduct from which [deeworker] did not stand to benefitQruz v.
Coach Stores, Inc202 F.3d 560, 568 (2d Cir. 2000) (plaihtvho “engaged in a physical fight”
was not similarly situated to co-workersi@se “behavior — offensive thought it may have
been — involved words only”). Both Ptaiff and Birmingham engaged in sexually
inappropriate conduct. (Def. 56.1 | 174-755BI1 1 174—75.) However, there are a number
of disputed facts regarding the seriousnessaififf’s conduct. First, the parties dispute the
contents of the photograph — whether it showed Birmingham’s knee and lower thigh or
something more explicit. QomparePl. Dep. 126:19, 129:13-14ndWilson Decl. I 6with
Hawkins Aff. 11 6, 8.) Second, the partiespdite whether Plaintiff actively showed the
photograph to his co-workers, or whether heegais telephone to Hawkins, who shared the
photograph with others. (De$6.1 | 75; PI. 56.1 § 75.) Maneer, Defendant’s own human
resources representative, Robbins, testifiet Birmingham’s conduct was worse than
Plaintiff's. (Robbins Dep. 70:2-25Furthermore, whether PHiff's conduct, centering around
one violation of Defendant’s Sexual Harasshfealicy, is more serious than Birmingham'’s
ongoing sexually explicit behavior, asdecision best left for the jurysee Temple v. City of New
York No. 06-CV-2162, 2010 WL 3824116, at *8(R.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 2010) (although
plaintiff's supervisor concludetthat plaintiff’s conduct was “meregregious than that of her
comparators, factual issues concerning comparaiduct such as those presented in this case

are appropriately resolved by a jury” (citiGgaham 230 F.3d at 42—43)).
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Defendant also argues that Plaintif@nduct was more serious because Plaintiff
contacted Birmingham demanding that she waldher complaint against him after he was
instructed by Robbins not to have any cont@th Birmingham, and “used his position as
President of the Union to coerce-workers into signing statemenkst he prepared in support
of his complaint against Birminghm” (Def. Mem. 20.) These factare disputed by Plaintiff.
Although Plaintiff admits that he approacHgdningham and requested that she rescind her
complaint against him, he maintains thabRins never instructed him not to approach
Birmingham. (PI. Decl. 1 4.) &htiff states that, to the contrary, Robbins told him that the
investigation would ceaséBirmingham rescinded her complaintd.j Plaintiff's contact of
Birmingham was not necessarily urseaable, especially in light ¢fie evidence indicating that
Birmingham had not initially wanted to file theraplaint in the first place and later attempted to
rescind the complaint.Sge e.g.Pl. Decl. T 4; Wilson Decl. § 18cott Decl. § 8.) Plaintiff also
maintains that he did not threaten or coercerKl&arrant or Krieger into submitting statements
on his behalf, and this is supported by statemfeais Garrant and Kriegar. (Pl. Dep. 225:7—
226:5; Garrant Dep. 16:9-18, 22:17-22; KriegecD{ 5.) Although Klein allegedly told
Robbins that he felt pressured into giving a statirPlaintiff testifiedhat, at the time he
obtained Klein’s statement, Kiedid not say or do anything thabuld suggest that he was
uncomfortable signing the statementl. @&.1 1 153-154.2; Pl. Dep. 225:7-25.) Based on this
evidence, a reasonably jury could concludd Birmingham engaged in conduct that was as

serious as, if not momerious than, Plaintiff.

° Defendant further argues that Plditgifailure to file his complaint against
Birmingham before his own conduct was investigated requires dismissal. (Def. Mem. 22.)
Plaintiff has explained why haid not previously file his aoplaint, and he has provided
evidence that he, and others, did not appre@ateingham’s explicit sexual behavior. (PI. Dep.
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C. Different Treatment

Plaintiff has established thBirmingham was treated more favorably than he v&ee
Berube 348 F. App’x at 686 (holding that the plaihtproffered sufficient evidence to make
out aprima facieclaim of discriminatory intent by demanating that youngesimilarly-situated
employees” were treated “more favorably” than he waalljams v. Alterra Assisted Living
Home Health Corp./Brookdal&lo. 07-CV-0492, 2010 WL 5072587, at *6 (W.D.N.Y. Dec. 10,
2010) ("[T]o satisfy a prima facie case, Pldiitnust show that these similarly situated
employees were treated more favorably.”).tiBBirmingham and Plaiifft engaged in sexually
explicit conduct and filed sexual harassment comjda Construing the evidence in the light
most favorable to PlaintifRlaintiff was construiively discharged, while Birmingham was not
disciplined. A reasonably jugould conclude tha®laintiff and Birmingham shared sufficient
employment characteristics to be considesiedilarly situated, “engaged in conduct of
comparable seriousness, the consequencegioh were then applied inconsistentlylemple
2010 WL 3824116, at *8.

Plaintiff has presented sufficient evidence tondastrate that thereeagenuine issues of
material fact as to the existence of a prima faage of gender discrimination based upon the
alleged disparate disciplinatseatment by Defendant.

ii.  Non-Discriminatory Explanation

Once a prima faciease of gender discrimination haseh established, a presumption of
discrimination arises, and Defendamaist articulate a “legitimat non-discriminatory reason for

the employment action.Broich v. Inc. Vill. of SouthamptpA62 F. App’x 39, 42 (2d Cir. 2012)

at 108:5-112:24, 121:16-21, 142:20-143:6, 135196:24, 221:1-222:15; Horn Dep. 10:3—
13:15; Wilson Decl. { 5; Krieger Decl. § 5; Sco#dD  5.) Itis for the jury to determine how
to assess the timing of Plaintiff's complaint.
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(quotingWeinstock v. Columbia Unj\224 F.3d 33, 42 (2d Cir. 2000%grt. denied568

discrimination “is not a padularly steep hurdle.Hyek 702 F. Supp. 2d at 93. It “is one of
production, not persuasion; it can inw@lno credibility assessmentReeves v. Sanderson
Plumbing Prods., In¢530 U.S. 133, 142 (200Q3ee also Lambert v. McCann Erickséd 3 F.
Supp. 2d 265, 278 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (using Reevestandard). Defendaatgues that Plaintiff
was not terminated, but was facing yet-to-be-aeiteed discipline for his violation of the
company’s sexual harassment pelec (Def. Mem. at 19-20.) Thus, Defendant satisfies its
burden. Plaintiff must, thereformeet his burden of demoreting that the legitimate reason
proffered by Defendant is pretextincher, 604 F.3d at 720

iii. Pretext

To avoid summary judgment,dmhtiff must offer evidenc&éom which a reasonable jury
could conclude by a preponderaméehe evidence that gender discrimination played a role in
the adverse action taken by Defendaiimma v. Hofstra Uniy708 F.3d 115, 125 (2d Cir.
2013). A “plaintiff is not requiretio show that the employer’sqifered reasons were false or
played no role in the employmaestécision, but only that they were not the only reasons and that
the prohibited factor was at least one of the ‘motivating’ factdrolicomb 521 F.3d at 138
(quotingCronin v. Aetna Life Ins. Co46 F.3d 196, 203 (2d Cir. 1995%ge also Nassab70
U.S. at ---, 133 S.Ct. at 2526arcia v. Hartford Police Dep/t706 F.3d 120, 127 (2d Cir. 2013).
At the pretext stage, “[ajotirt may re-consider evidence paged to find an inference of
discrimination at the prima facie stagdrigenito v. Riri USA, In¢gNo. 11-CV-2569, 2013 WL
752201, at *12 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 27, 2018ge Sista v. CDC Ixis N. Am., In4¢45 F.3d 161, 173
(2d Cir. 2006) (holding that aghtiff may demonstrate preteidither by the presentation of

additional evidence showing that the employer&ffered explanation isnworthy of credence,
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or by reliance on the evidence comprisihg prima facie case, without moreBack v. Hastings
on Hudson Union Free Sch. Dis865 F.3d 107, 124 (2d Cir. 2004) (“[T]he plaintiff may,
depending on how strong it is, rely upon the samdence that comprised her prima facie case,
without more.”);see also Herbert748 F. Supp. 2d at 241 (“To defeat summary judgment,
[plaintiff] need only show that ‘the evidencééam as a whole, supports a sufficient rational
inference of discriminabin.” (citations omitted)).

Plaintiff argues that the alledelisparate treatment of Bimngham presented to establish
his prima facie case also demonstrates th&mkant’s explanation for his alleged constructive
discharge is pretextuabee Graham230 F.3d at 43 (“A showing that similarly situated
employees belonging to a differdptotected] group received mol@vorable treatment can also
serve as evidence that the employer’s profféggdimate, non-discriminatory reason for the
adverse job action was a pretext facial discrimination.” (citindHargett 78 F.3d at 939));
Temple 2010 WL 3824116, at *10 (“The Second Circuais stated that, ‘[a] showing that
similarly situated employees belonging to Hiedtent racial group received more favorable
treatment can also serve as evide that the employer’s profferéegitimate, non-discriminatory
reason for the adverse job action was agpitefor racial discrimination.” (quotin@raham 230
F.3d at 43)). Defendant argues that it istkxad to summary judgme because Plaintiff
“engaged in more egregious misconduct tBamingham.” (Def. Men. 14.) Plaintiff's
conduct, while certainly inappropriate, couldgmrceived as relatiyeminor — taking a
photograph of Birmingham and Hawkiat the same time as a number of other male coworkers,
allowing Hawkins to view the photograph on tetephone, talking to Birmingham about her
complaint, and asking coworkers to submattsinents on his behalf — especially when

compared to the ongoing, sexyadixplicit conduct in which Bmingham engaged. However,
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this is an issue of fact to be determined by a j8ge Grahan230 F.3d at 39 (“Whether two
employees are similarly situated ordinarilggents a question addt for the jury.”).

Defendant argues that, even if it was incorreactetermining thaPlaintiff engaged in
more egregious conduct than Birmingham, thatssifficient to show discrimination. While
Defendant is correct thanfairness or employer errianot enough to demonstrate
discriminatory animus, “[t]o defeat summary judgment, [plaintiff] need only show that ‘the
evidence taken as a whole, supports a sefitciational inferencef discrimination.”” Herbert,
748 F. Supp. 2d at 241 (citations omittedpe Desir v. City of New Yo#53 F. App’x 30, 34
(2d Cir. 2011) (“In short, the question becomdeether the evidence, takas a whole, supports
a sufficient rational inference of discrimination.” (quotMiinstock224 F.3d at 42)). Plaintiff
has presented evidence that both he andiBgham violated Defendant’s Sexual Harassment
Policy and filed sexual harassment complaintsl, that Defendant condwct an investigation,
after which Birmingham suffered no discipligaaction, while Plainff was constructively
discharged. Reviewing the eviderindhe light most favorable telaintiff, the Court finds that
Plaintiff has presented disputed issues of $ach that a reasonableyjcould conclude that
Plaintiff was subjected to digpate disciplinary treatment efendant on the basis of his
gender. Defendant’s motion for summary judgires to Plaintiff'sgender discrimination
claims is denied.

c. Hostile Work Environment

Plaintiff has failed to sufficiently establish a hiesswork environment claim. In order to
establish a hostile work environment claaplaintiff must produce evidence that the
complained of conduct “(1) is objectively severgpervasive — that is, creates an environment
that a reasonable person wofiftl hostile or abusive; (2) cress an environment that the

plaintiff subjectively perceiveas hostile or abusive; and (3) creates such an environment
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because of the plaintiff's sex, or another protected characteri&abinson v. Harvard Prot.
Servs, 495 F. App’x 140, 141 (2d Cir. 2012) @mhal quotation marks omitted) (quotiRgtane

v. Clark 508 F.3d 106, 113 (2d Cir. 2007§).To withstand summary judgment, Plaintiff must
produce evidence that “the workplace wassewerely permeated with discriminatory
intimidation, ridicule, and insulthat the terms and conditions[bfs] employment were thereby
altered.” Mills, --- F. App’x at ---,2013 WL 2157955, at *2 (quotirigesardouin v. City of
Rochester708 F.3d 102, 105 (2d Cir. 2013)). “Generally, unless an incident of harassment is
sufficiently severe, ‘incidents must be more tle@mnsodic; they must be sufficiently continuous
and concerted in order b2 deemed pervasive.Das v. Consol. Sch. Dist. of New Brita869

F. App’x 186, 18990 (2d Cir. 2010) (quotiddfano v. Costellp294 F. 3d 365, 374 (2d Cir.
2002)). The plaintiff must alsestablish that the hostile workveronment can be imputed to the
employer in order to establish employer liapifor hostile actions taken by its employéésSee
Vance v. Ball State Uni\570 U.S. ---, ---, 133 S. Ct. 2434, 2443 (2013) (explaining under what
circumstances an employer may be held liable for harassment by an emSoyaeaia 708

F.3d at 124 (holding that “[ijn ordéo prevail on a hostile wornvironment claim,” a plaintiff

19 The same standards apply to the pliisthostile environment claim arising under the
NYSHRL. See Summa v. Hofstra Univ08 F.3d 115, 123-24 (2d Cir. 2013) (“Hostile work
environment claims under both [federal law] and the NYSHRL are governed by the same
standard.” (citingschiano v. Quality Payroll Sys., Ind45 F.3d 597, 609 (2d Cir. 2006)Kelly
v. Howard I. Shapiro & Assocs. Consulting Eng’rs, PX.6 F.3d 10, 14 (2d Cir. 2013) (per
curiam) (“The standards for evaluating hostile work environment . . . claims are identical under
Title VIl and the NYSHRL.”) Therefore, Plaintiff's Title VIl and NYSHRL hostile work
environment claims are analyzedyéther for purposes of this motion.

1 Where the harasser is a supervisoiindividual “empowered to take tangible
employment actions against the victim,” anké‘supervisor’s harasgmt culminates in a
tangible employment action, the ployer is strictly liable.” Vance v. Ball State Univ570
U.S. ---, ---, 133 S. Ct. 2434, 2439 (2013). Howewdrere the harasser is a co-worker, “the
employer is liable only if it was negligeim controlling working conditions.’1d.
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must demonstrate “that there is a specifisi®éor imputing the conduct creating the hostile
work environment to the employer” (quotiBgich v. Jakubelks88 F.3d 757, 762 (2d Cir.
2009))); Smith v. HBONo. 12-CV-2177, 2013 WL 2285185, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. May 22, 2013)
(“Plaintiff must also plead enough facts that tiestile work environment can be imputed to the
employer in order to establish employer liabifity hostile actions taken by its employees.”).
“While the central statutory purpose[ okl& VIl was] eradicating discrimination in
employment, Title VII does not set forth a gemeraility code for the American workplace.”
Redd 678 F.3d at 176 (alteration in original) (tités and internal quotation marks omitted).
The Second Circuit distinguishes between “[ctams of] sexual assaults; [other] physical
contact[, whether amorous or hitsstfor which there is no conseexpress or implied]; uninvited
sexual solicitations; intimidatinggords or acts; [and] obscene language or gestures” and “the
occasional vulgar banter, tinged with sexmaluendo, of coarse or bodrigiorkers,” which are
not protected under the laiRedd 678 F.3d at 177 (alteration in original) (citations omitted).
“Conduct that is not severe or pervasive enougirdate an objectivelyostile or abusive work
environment — an environment that a reastampbrson would find hostile or abusive — is
beyond Title VII's purview.” Harris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 21-22 (1993). “Isolated
incidents generally will not $fice to establish a hostile work environment unless they are
extraordinarily severe.Kaytor v. Elec. Boat Corp609 F.3d 537, 547 (2d Cir. 2010). “In other
words, ‘[s]imple teasing, offhand commentsdasolated incidents fless extremely serious)
will not amount to discriminatory changestire terms and conditions of employmentifliano
v. Mineola Union Free Sch. Disb85 F. Supp. 2d 341, 350 (E.D.N.Y. 2008) (quotiagagher

v. City of Boca Ratqrb24 U.S. 775, 788 (1998)).
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Plaintiff has presented evidence that co-workette radiology depément, specifically
Birmingham and Hawkins, spoke frequently about their sex lives and showed explicit
photographs in the workplace, creating an uncomlidetand inappropriate work environment.
However, Plaintiff has not edilsshed that the sexual conducttbe inapproprigeness of the
environment was gender-basesiee Smith2013 WL 2285185, at *4 (finding that where the
plaintiff alleged “that her female supervisor treattider females more favorably than [p]laintiff,
she ha[d] not sufficiently pled that any of hefavorable treatment was due to her gender”);
Fattoruso v. Hilton Grand Vacations C&73 F. Supp. 2d 569, 578-79 (S.D.N.Y. 2012)
(dismissing complaint where there was “nothing that indicates that plaintiff was treated
‘unequally’ based upon his genderidabecause the complaint “fail[ed] allege specific acts to
support a claim that the work environment was hostile¢éo— ‘unfairness’ does not equate to
hostility, no matter how inequitadsl (emphasis in original)Dottolo v. Byrne Dairy, Ing.

No. 08-CV-0390, 2010 WL 2560551, at *5 (N.D.N.Y. June 22, 2010) (dismissing the complaint
because the plaintiff had failedb“tllege facts plausibly sugdiesy that [the defendant] posited

an unwelcome question to [theapitiff] because of his sex”)srasner v. HSH Nordbank AG

680 F. Supp. 2d 502, 516 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (dismissing the hostile work environment claim
“because none of the alleged acts of harassomnmitted directly against [the plaintiff] —

either when viewed in isolation or in conjtion with any potential discrimination against

women — support a claim that [he] is being lsagal because he is a male employee” (internal
guotation marks omitted)).

Plaintiff asserts thdte was uncomfortable during thesappropriate conversations, but
he admits that he engaged in some the salisalissions and participated in some of the

inappropriate conduct. (Pl. Dep. 172:16-25.) ddes not allege that the sexual comments were
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directed to, or personally insulting to him inyaway or to males in particular, nor does he
demonstrate that they were obviously intendedtimidate, ridicule, or demean him on account
of his gender or any othprotected characteristiSee Wells-Williams v. Kingsboro Psychiatric
Center No. 03-CV-134, 2007 WL 1011545, at (EDNY March 30, 2007) (although plaintiff
asserts that she was uncomfortable and urdlee$s” during the offensive conversations, she
did not allege that the offenders’ comments weersonally insulting to her in any way, nor
[did] she demonstrate that thexere obviously intended to intimidgtridicule, or demean her on
account of a protected charactéc”). Plaintiff testified that Birmingham’s conduct was
directed at both men and women, and thdotaf people” found her conduct offensive. (PI.
Dep. 111:16-19, 121:16-21.) For example, Plaihaf provided evidence that Susan Horn, a
female nurse, found Birmingham'’s alleged actionslenie work environment “uncomfortable.”
(PI. Opp’n 21.) “Obscene language or gestuegsf “the occasional vulgar banter, tinged with
sexual innuendo, of coarse or bobngorkers” do not amount to a hostile work enivronment.
Redd 678 F.3d at 177. Plaintiff's contention thia¢ radiology department was a sexually-
charged and inappropriate workplace for all eayipks, both male and female, is simply not
actionable.See Jerram v. Cornwall Cent. Sch. Dig64 F. App’x 13, 15 (2d Cir. 2012)
(affirming the district court’grant of summary judgment toféadants on plaintiff's hostile

work environment claim, where the evidest®wed that “men and women alike” found the
offender abrasive and disrespectful, the offendbjexted others to similar behavior, and “there
is little evidence that [the offender] tredtwomen any worse than he treated mesi)jth 2013
WL 2285185, at *4 (dismissing plaintiff's hostieork environment claim because, among other
thing, plaintiff failed to “sufficietly [plead] that any of her unfarable treatment was due to her

gender”);Krasner, 680 F. Supp. 2d at 519 (dismissing hostile work environment claims where
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plaintiff failed to demonstrate that “he was singted for mistreatment because of [his] sex”);
Wells-Williams 2007 WL 1011545, at *4 (granting defentiaummary judgment on sexual
harassment claim where “the work environi&as equally unprofessional for both men and
women”). Defendant’s motion feummary judgment is granted to Plaintiff's hostile work
environment claims.

d. Retaliation

Plaintiff claims that he was terminatedretaliation for filing a complaint against
Birmingham for sexual harassment. (Pl. Opp’n 23-24.) Claims of retaliation for engaging in
protected conduct under Title VII are examined undeMtBonnell Douglasurden shifting

test®> McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. GregAll U.S. 742, 802 (1973)ee Summ&08 F.3d at

2 Traditionally, “[t{]he standards for evaliryg . . . retaliation clans are identical under
Title VIl and the NYSHRL.” Kelly, 716 F.3d at 14 (citingveinstock v. Columbia Unj\224
F.3d 33, 42 n. 1 (2d Cir. 2000)yandewater v. Canandaigua Nat. BaBR3 N.Y.S.2d 916
(2010) (“It is well settled thahe federal standards under [T]itfél of the Civil Rights Act of
1964 are applied to determine &ther recovery is warranted under the Human Rights Law.”
(citing Forrest v. Jewish Guild for the Blin@ N.Y.3d 295, 330 (2004))Forrest 3 N.Y.3d at
330 (stating that “[b]ecause both the Human Rights Law and [Vitladdress the same type of
discrimination, afford victims similar forms of redress, are textually similar and ultimately
employ the same standards of recovery, federallaasm this area also proves helpful to the
resolution of this appeal” (quotingatter of Aurecchionegd8 N.Y.2d 21, 26 (2002)). New York
State courts have yet to address the imphtite Supreme Court’s recent holdingNassaron
the NYSHRL, nor has the Second Circuit providleel district courts ofhis Circuit with
guidance as to this issue. However, thevant provisions of Title VIl and NYSHRL are
textually similar, and both prohibit an employem discriminating oretaliating against an
individual “because” he or shegaged in protected activity. Massar the Supreme Court held
that under “the default rules” of statutory constion, “causation” should baterpreted as “but-
for causation” “absent an indication to the contrary in the statute itself,” and interpreted Title
VII's use of “because” as requiring “proof that thesire to retaliate wake but-for cause of the
challenged employment actionUniv. of Texas Sw. Med. Ctr. v. NassarO U.S. ---, ---, 133 S.
Ct. 2517, 2525, 2528 (2013). Since the NYSHRL stayutanguage is the same, and the New
York Court of Appeals has consistently statieat federal Title VII standards are applied in
interpreting the NYSHRL, this @irt will continue to interprethe standard for retaliation under
NYSHRL consistent with Title VII jurisprudence, as clarified by the Supreme CoNdsear
See, e.gBrown v. City of New YoriNo. 11-CV-2915, 2013 WL 3789091, at *19 (S.D.N.Y.
July 19, 2013) (reviewing the butf causation requirement for BtVII retaliation articulated in
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125 (“The burden-shifting framework laid outMcDonnell Douglas . . governs retaliation

claims under . . . Title VII”). Under thegg “[f]irst, the plairiff must establish @rima facie

case of retaliation. If the plaintiff succeed®rta presumption of retaliation arises and the
employer must articulate a legitate, non-retaliatory reason fitre action that the plaintiff

alleges was retaliatory.Fincher, 604 F.3d at 720 (citations omittedge also Tepperwien v.
Entergy Nuclear Operations, In663 F.3d 556, 568 n.6 (2d Cir. 2011) (discussing the burden
shifting analysis in retaliation contexfjjte v. Hamilton Sundstrand Coyd20 F.3d 166, 173

(2d Cir. 2005) (same). If the employer succestdbe second stage, then the presumption of
retaliation dissipates, and the pigiif must show that, but for éhprotected activity, he would not
have been terminateGee Nassab70 U.S. at ---, 133 S. Ct. at 2534 (holding that a plaintiff
“must establish that his or her protected activity was a but-for cause of the alleged adverse action
by the employer”)see alsaMoore v. Kingsbrook Jewish Med. CtNo. 11-CV-3625, 2013 WL
3968748, at *14 (E.D.N.Y. July 30, 2013) (statingttbnce the employer succeeds at the second
stage, “the presumption of retaliation dissipases] the plaintiff must show that, but for the
protected activity, he would nbave been terminated” (citingassar 570 U.S. at ---, 133 S. Ct.

at 2534));Brooks v. D.C. 9 Painters Unipio. 10-CV-7800, 2013 WL 3328044, at *4

(S.D.N.Y. July 2, 2013) (“If thelefendant [articulates a legitate, non-retaliatory reason], the
plaintiff must offer ‘proof thathe unlawful retaliation would ndtave occurred in the absence of
the alleged wrongful action or aati® of the employer.” (quotinblassar 570 U.S. at ---, 133

S. Ct. at 2534)).

Nassarand stating that the plaintiff's “retatian claim under the NYSHRL is ‘analytically
identical to [her] claims brought uadTitle VII'” (citation omitted)).
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i. Prima Facie Case

In order to establish a prima facie caseeatliation, a plaintiff must establish
(1) participation in an activity protected by fedlediscrimination statutg?) the defendant was
aware of this activity(3) an adverse employment actiamd (4) a causal connection between
the alleged adverse actiondathe protected activityKelly v. Howard I. Shapiro & Assocs.
Consulting Eng'’rs, P.C.716 F.3d 10, 14 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam) (citirmge v. City of
Syracuse670 F.3d 127, 157 (2d Cir. 2012pumma708 F.3d at 1255chiano v. Quality
Payroll Sys., In¢.445 F.3d 597, 608 (2d Cir. 2006). Thedmm at the summary judgment stage

for Plaintiff is ““minimal’ and ‘de minimis” and “the court’s role in evaluating a summary
judgment request is to determine only whetheffpred admissible evidence would be sufficient
to permit a rational finder of fatd infer a retaliatory motive.Jute 420 F.3d at 173 (citations
omitted). Defendant argues that Plaintiff did not engage in “protected activity,” was not subject

to any adverse action and canastablish the required “causalnnection.” (Def. Mem. 15-18.)

1. Protected Activity

Plaintiff alleges that he was fired for filing a sexual harassment complaint against
Birmingham on January 13, 2012. (Pl. Opp’n 23-24nder Title VII, protected activity
includes both “opposing discrimination proscribedtuy statute and . . . participating in Title
VIl proceedings.*® Jute 420 F.3d at 1735ee also Tepperwief63 F.3d at 567 (“Title VI . . .
prohibits an employer from taking ‘materiallghgerse’ action against an employee because the
employee opposed conduct that Title VII forbidsher employee otherwismgaged in protected

activity.” (citations omitted))Hicks v. Baines593 F.3d 159, 161 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Title VII's

13 The New York State Human Rightsw.@ontains similar language prohibiting
discrimination “against any person because h&herhas opposed any practices forbidden under
this article or because he or she has filedraptaint, testified or ssisted in any proceeding
under this article.” N.YExec. Law 8§ 296(1)(e).
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anti-retaliation provisiomakes it unlawful ‘for an employer to discriminate against any . . .
employee[ ] . . . because [that employee] opp@ssdpractice’ made unlawful by Title VII or
‘made a charge, testified, assisted, or partiegh@ any manner in an investigation, proceeding,
or hearing under this subchaptealterations in original) (goting 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a))).
Title VII's antiretaliatian provision is “construed to cover a broad range of employer conduct.”
Thompson v. N. Am. Stainless, BB2 U.S. ---, ---, 131 S. Ct. 863, 868 (2011). Itis not
necessary that the conduct was actually prohiltnyeditle VII, but only that the plaintiff had a
“good faith belief” that sch conduct was prohibited.a Grande v. DeCrescente Distrib. Co.
370 F. App’x. 206, 212 (2d Cir. 2010) (“It is wektablished that a ‘platiff may prevail on a
claim for retaliation even when the underlyimmnduct complained of was not in fact unlawful
so long as he can establish that he possesgeddafaith, reasonable belithat the underlying
challenged actions of the employeolated [the] law.” (quotingTreglia v. Town of Manliys
313 F.3d 713, 719 (2d Cir. 2002)Ranhoye v. Altana Inc686 F. Supp. 2d 199, 206 (E.D.N.Y.
2009) (**‘An employee is privileged to repomdprotest workplace discrimination, whether that
discrimination be actual or reasonably perceiveitle VIl therefore prohibits an employer
from retaliating against an employee for oppggihe employer’s potentially discriminatory
practices.”(quotingMatima v. Cellj 228 F.3d 68, 78 (2d Cir. 2000))). When making the
complaint, Plaintiff must do so in “sufficiently specific terms so that the employer is put on
notice that the plaintiff believes he or shééng discriminated against on the basis of race,
gender, or national origin.Brummell v. Webster @é&al School Dist.No. 06—CV-6437, 2009
WL 232789, at *6 (W.D.N.Y. Jan. 29, 2009).

Plaintiff filed a formal complaint of sexuharassment. (Def. 56.1 § 156; PI. 56.1 { 156;

Robbins Aff.  24.) Defendant argues that mlfficannot demonstrate that his complaint was
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made reasonably and in good fiaias Plaintiff did not lodga complaint of discrimination
against Birmingham untafter learning of the complaint Birmgham filed against him. (Def
Reply 9.) Defendant maintains that the tijmalone demonstratesatiPlaintiff did not
reasonably believe he had been a victim of harassrbut rather that he filed the complaint in
retaliation and as a meansayoiding disciplinary actionfr his own misconduct.ld.)
Plaintiff's sworn testimony is that he waitedtiidanuary 13, 2010 to file a complaint against
Birmingham because he was afraid of retaia@énd did not want to “cause problems,” but by
filing her complaint, Birmingham “made it fatio go out and complain.” (Pl. Dep. 142:20—
143:6;see also idat 221:2-222:15"

A jury could conclude based on Plaintiftestimony that Plaintiff was offended by
Birmingham’s behavior and fileal good-faith sexual harassmenmmplaint against her on that
basis. [d.) See, e.g. Hick$93 F.3d at 170 (finding that pheiffs’ sworn affidavits were
sufficient evidence to survive a summary judgment motion).

2. Knowledge

Plaintiff has established thBiefendant knew of his protect activity. “In order to
satisfy the requirement of employer knowledgeearmployee must have made it clear that she
was opposing activity made illegal by Title VIIRisco v. McHughNo. 10-CV-6314, 2012 WL
2161115, at *20 (S.D.N.Y. June 14, 2012). It ismetessary that Plaintiff prove that the

specific actors knew of the protected activity as long as Plaintiff can demonstrate general

14 Defendant argues that Plaintiff admittedithe filed his sexual harassment complaint
in retaliation, pointing to a ption of Plaintiff's deposition irwhich, when asked “You made a
complaint against her because she made a corhplzainst you?,” he awered “Yes.” (Pl.
Dep. 194:22-195:5.) However, in the same deposition, Plaintiff testified that he found
Birmingham’s conduct offensive prior to the filinglwk complaint but did not feel free to file a
complaint until she “made it fair to go outcacomplain.” (Pl. Dep. at 142:20-143:6, 221:2—
222:15))
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corporate knowledgeSee Henry v. Wyeth Pharmaceuticals,,|6&6 F.3d 134, 148 (2d Cir.
2010) (“[A] jury may ‘find retaliation even if the agent denies dit&knowledge of a plaintiff's
protected activities, for example, so longlaes jury finds that tla circumstances evidence
knowledge of the protected activities or the juopcludes that an agentasting explicitly or
implicit[ly] upon the orders of a superior whas the requisite knowledge.” (alteration in
original) (quotingGordon v. N.Y.C. Bd. of Edu@232 F.3d 111, 117 (2d Cir. 2000)))jivedi v.
N.Y. Unified Court Sys. Office of Court AdmBil8 F. Supp. 2d 712, 736 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (*A
plaintiff need not prove thadhe specific actors within anganization were aware that the
plaintiff made allegations aktaliation to make out@rima facieretaliation claim; rather,
‘general corporate knowledge thhe plaintiff has engaged in agbected activity’ is sufficient.”
(citations omitted)). Defendants admit thad]t[or about January 13, 2010, Plaintiff filed a
complaint against Ms. Birmingham for sekbharassment.” (Def. 56.1 § 125.) Although
Defendants believe thatdhtiff filed the complaint to retalta against Birmingham, this is a
factual issue to be decided by the jury. c8ibefendant knew Plaintiff filed a formal sexual
harassment complaint against Birmingham,rRifiihas established that Defendant had
knowledge of his protected activity.

3. Adverse Employment Action

Construing all the evidence andading all inferences in Plaiiff's favor, Plaintiff also
satisfies the adverse employment action prokg discussed above,dttiff has offered
sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jooyld conclude thdte was constructively
discharged. ee supr#art 1l.b.i.1.) Constructive dibarge is consided an adverse
employment action sufficient support a retaliation claimSee Civil Serv. Emps. Ass'n, Inc.,

Local 1000, AFSCME, AFL-CIO v. N.Y. DepftParks, Recreation & Historic Pre$89 F.
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Supp. 2d 267, 280 (N.D.N.Y. 2010) (holding that theverse employment action” element of
plaintiff's retaliation claim “ncludes discharge from employntday constructive discharge”).

4. Causation

Drawing all inferences in favasf Plaintiff, Plaintiff hasestablished a causal connection
between his protected activity and bermination. “[A] plaintiff can indirectly establish a causal
connection to support a discrimination or retadiatclaim by showing that the protected activity
was closely followed in time bine adverse employment actiori.'Gorzynski 596 F.3d at 110—
11 (quotingGorman-Bakos v. Cornell Coop. Extension of Schenectady, @B68/F.3d 545, 554
(2d Cir. 2001))see als&im v. Columbia Univ.460 F. App’x 23, 25 (2d Cir. 2012)
(“[Tlemporal proximity between protected adtyvand adverse action may be sufficient to
satisfy the causality element of arpa facie retaliation claim . . . .”Feingold 366 F.3d at 156
(“[T]he requirement that [plaintiff] show a caal connection betweenshtomplaints and his
termination is satisfied by the temporal proximity between the two.”). There is no bright line
rule for how long after a plaintiff has engagedhe protected activitthat the adverse action
must have occurred to benefit from the mefece but generally courts measure the time in
months. See, e.g. Gorzynslk&96 F.3d at 110-11 (“Though [the&®nd Circuit] has not drawn a

bright line defining, for the pposes of a prima facie case, the outer limits beyond which a

> The Supreme Court has recently ruled thaeufdtle VI, a plaintiff “must establish
that his or her protected adtiwwas a but-for cause ofetalleged adveesaction by the
employer.” Nassar 570 U.S. at ---, 133 S.Ct. at 2534. While temporal proximity alone may still
be sufficient at the prima facie stagdsinot sufficient at the pretext stagéompareRivera v.
N.Y.C. Dep't of CorrectignNo. 06-CV-862, 2013 WL 3297597,%k (E.D.N.Y. June 28, 2013)
(incorporating the “but-fércausation standard into the prima facie caséj) Moore v.
Kingsbrook Jewish Med. CtiNo. 11-CV-3625, 2013 WL 3968748,*d#4 (E.D.N.Y. July 30,
2013) (analyzing the “butef” causation standard at the pretext staBe)pks v. D.C. 9 Painters
Union, No. 10-CV-7800, 2013 WL 3328044, at *4 (S.D.NJuly 2, 2013) (stating that “but for”
causation must be proved if the defendant adiesl a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the
adverse employment action).
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temporal relationship is too atteated to establish causation, [ishareviously held that five
months is not too long torfd the causal relationship.’$mith v. Town of Hempstead Dept. of
Sanitation Sanitary Dist. No, 298 F. Supp. 2d 443, 457 (E.D.N.Y. 2011) (“With regard to the
establishment of a prima faccase through temporal proxignithe Second Circuit has not
drawn a bright line as to hoglosely an adverse employmexdtion must follow protected
activity to imply that retaliation has taken place.” (citlbgpinal v. Goord558 F.3d 119, 129

(2d Cir. 2009))Laudadio v. Johann$77 F. Supp. 2d 590, 614 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (“There is no
bright-line beyond which a temporal relationshipois attenuated to prove causation.” (citations
omitted)). Here, Plaintiff was arguably construeljvdischarged two days after filing his sexual
harassment complaint against Birmingham, thereby satisfying the temporal proximity
requirement.

ii.  Non-Discriminatory Explanation

Since Plaintiff has established a prima éacase of retaliation, a presumption of
retaliation arises and Defendantsharticulate a legitimate reas for Plaintiff's termination.
Fincher, 604 F.3d at 720. Defendant argues thanBfaivas not terminated, but was facing yet-
to-be-determined discipline fordwiolation of the company’s seal harassment policies. (Def.
Mem. at 19-20.) Therefore, BBmdant satisfies its burden.

iii. Pretext

Although Plaintiff has established a prima &acase of retaliation, Plaintiff cannot prove
that but for his sexual harassment complaintybeld not have been terminated. Under the
recent Supreme Court decisionNlassar “Title VII retaliation clams must be proved according
to traditional principles abut-for causation . . . . This requirpsoof that the unlawful retaliation
would not have occurred in the absence of the alleged wrongful action or actions of the

employer.” 570 U.S. at ---, 133 S. Ct. at 2533. Therefore, during the final stage of the burden
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shifting framework, the plaintiff must show thataliation was a but-farause of the adverse
employment actionSee Moorg2013 WL 3968748, at *14 (E.D.M. July 30, 2013) (holding

that afteNassar “the plaintiff must showhat retaliation was a b#ior cause of the adverse
employment action” during the finalegfe of the burden shifting frameworBy,00ks,2013 WL
3328044, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. July 2, 2013) (stating thatt for” causation must be proved if the
defendant articulates a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the adverse employment action).
Plaintiff has not and cannot do so.

Although Plaintiff's termination occurred two ykaafter he filed his sexual harassment
complaint, that alone cannot sustain his ratan claim. Even under the previous lesser
“motivating factor” standard, &mporal proximity — while enougio support a prima facie case
— [was] insufficient to establish pretextBen-Levy v. Bloomberg, L,R-- F. App’X ---, ---,

2013 WL 1810953, at *2 (2d Cir. May 1, 2018ge also Govori v. Goat Fifty, L.L,C-- F.

temporal proximity between ents may give rise to@ima facie casef discrimination, ‘such
temporal proximity is insufficient to satisfy [pdiff’'s] burden to bring forward some evidence
of pretext.” (quotingEl Sayed v. Hilton Hotels Corps27 F.3d 931, 933 (2d Cir. 2010))).

In order to establish but-for causation, Pldintiould have to prove that his termination
would not have occurred in thessmce of a retaliatory motive. f2adant has established that it
perceived Plaintiff as having violated #&xual Harassment Policy, and intimidating Union
members into filing statements in support of his complaint. (Def. 56.1 §{ 150-53, 174.) The
terms of Defendant’s Sexual Harassment Policy are clear — any violation may result in
disciplinary actions, including discharge. (D86.1 { 15.) Defendant has also demonstrated

that Plaintiff was facing disciipe in response to his owmrduct, not his sexual harassment
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complaint. (Def. 56.1 § 184.) Taking the evidence in the light mostdbakoto Plaintiff, a
reasonable jury could concludettPlaintiff's termination wadiscriminatory, since Defendant
applied its Sexual Harassment Policy to Plaimkfferently than Birmingham. However, based
on the evidence in the record, a reasonable pudmot conclude that daPlaintiff not filed a
sexual harassment complaint against Birminghaanyould not have been terminated after
Defendant’s investigation into Birmingham'’s coniptaof sexual harassment against Plaintiff.
Defendant’s motion for summary judgment a®laintiff's retaliationclaims is granted.

[ll. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’s mofior summary judgment is denied as to
Plaintiff's gender discrimination claims and grahtes to Plaintiff's hostile work environment

and retaliation claims.

SO ORDERED:

s/ MKB
MARGO K. BRODIE
United States District Judge

Dated: August 14, 2013
Brooklyn, New York
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